
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

 

VOLODYMYR STRUTYNSKY, on behalf 

of himself and all others similarly situated, 

 

                                     Plaintiffs, 

 

-against- 

 

 

CIVIL ACTION 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

AND 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL  

 

ASSOCIATED CREDIT SERVICES, INC. 

 

                                     Defendant. 

 

 

 Plaintiff VOLODYMYR STRUTYNSKY (hereinafter, “Plaintiff”), a New York resident, 

brings this class action complaint by and through his attorneys, Joseph H. Mizrahi Law, P.C., against 

Defendant ASSOCIATED CREDIT SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter “Defendant”), individually and on 

behalf of a class of all others similarly situated, pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, based upon information and belief of Plaintiff’s counsel, except for allegations specifically 

pertaining to Plaintiff, which are based upon Plaintiff’s personal knowledge. 

INTRODUCTION/PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

1. Congress enacted the FDCPA in 1977 in response to the “abundant evidence of the use of 

abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices by many debt collectors.” 15 U.S.C. § 

1692(a). At that time, Congress was concerned that “abusive debt collection practices contribute 

to the number of personal bankruptcies, to material instability, to the loss of jobs, and to 

invasions of individual privacy.” Id.  Congress concluded that “existing laws . . . [we]re 

inadequate to protect consumers,” and that “the effective collection of debts” does not require 

“misrepresentation or other abusive debt collection practices.” 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692(b) & (c).   

2. Congress explained that the purpose of the Act was not only to eliminate abusive debt 

collection practices, but also to “insure that those debt collectors who refrain from using 
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abusive debt collection practices are not competitively disadvantaged.” Id. § 1692(e). After 

determining that the existing consumer protection laws were inadequate, id. § 1692(b), 

Congress gave consumers a private cause of action against debt collectors who fail to comply 

with the Act. Id. § 1692k. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. The Court has jurisdiction over this class action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et 

seq. and 28 U.S.C. § 2201.  If applicable, the Court also has pendent jurisdiction over the state 

law claims in this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

4. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).  

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

5. Plaintiff brings this class action on behalf of a class of New York consumers seeking redress 

for Defendant’s illegal practices, in connection with the collection of a debt allegedly owed by 

Plaintiff. 

6. Defendant's actions violated § 1692 et seq. of Title 15 of the United States Code, commonly 

referred to as the Fair Debt Collections Practices Act (“FDCPA”) which prohibits debt 

collectors from engaging in abusive, deceptive and unfair practices.  

7. Plaintiff is seeking damages, and declaratory and injunctive relief. 

PARTIES 

8. Plaintiff is a natural person and a resident of the State of New York, and is a “Consumer” as 

defined by 15 U.S.C. §1692(a)(3).  

9. Defendant is a collection agency with a principal place of business located in Westborough, MA. 

10. Defendant is a company that uses the mail, telephone, and facsimile and regularly engages in 

business the principal purpose of which is to attempt to collect debts alleged to be due another. 

11. Defendant is a “debt collector,” as defined under the FDCPA under 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). 
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CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

Plaintiff brings claims, pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure (hereinafter 

“FRCP”) Rule 23, individually and on behalf of the following nationwide consumer class 

(the “Class”): 

• Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action on behalf of all 

persons similarly situated in the State of New York from whom Defendant 

attempted to collect a consumer debt using the same unlawful form letter herein, 

from one year before the date of this Complaint to the present.  

• The Class period begins one year to the filing of this Action. 

12. The Class satisfies all the requirements of Rule 23 of the FRCP for maintaining a class action: 

• Upon information and belief, the Class is so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable because there are hundreds and/or thousands of persons who have 

received debt collection letters and/or notices from Defendant that violate specific 

provisions of the FDCPA. Plaintiff is complaining of a standard form letter and/or 

notice that is sent to hundreds of persons (See Exhibit A, except that the undersigned 

attorney has, in accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2 partially redacted the financial 

account numbers in an effort to protect Plaintiff’s privacy); 

• There are questions of law and fact which are common to the Class and which 

predominate over questions affecting any individual Class member. These common 

questions of law and fact include, without limitation: 

a. Whether Defendant violated various provisions of the FDCPA; 

b. Whether Plaintiff and the Class have been injured by Defendant’s conduct; 

c. Whether Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages and are 

entitled to restitution as a result of Defendant’s wrongdoing and if 
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so, what is the proper measure and appropriate statutory formula to 

be applied in determining such damages and restitution; and 

d. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to declaratory and/or 

injunctive relief. 

• Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the Class, which all arise from the same operative 

facts and are based on the same legal theories. 

• Plaintiff has no interest adverse or antagonistic to the interest of the other members 

of the Class. 

• Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interest of the Class and has retained 

experienced and competent attorneys to represent the Class. 

• A Class Action is superior to other methods for the fair and efficient adjudication 

of the claims herein asserted. Plaintiff anticipates that no unusual difficulties are 

likely to be encountered in the management of this class action. 

• A Class Action will permit large numbers of similarly situated persons to prosecute 

their common claims in a single forum simultaneously and without the duplication of 

effort and expense that numerous individual actions would engender.  Class treatment 

will also permit the adjudication of relatively small claims by many Class members 

who could not otherwise afford to seek legal redress for the wrongs complained of 

herein. Absent a Class Action, class members will continue to suffer losses of statutory 

protected rights as well as monetary damages. If Defendant’s conduct is allowed 

proceed to without remedy they will continue to reap and retain the proceeds of their 

ill-gotten gains. 
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• Defendant has acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class, thereby 

making appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with 

respect to the Class as a whole. 

ALLEGATIONS OF FACT PARTICULAR TO VOLODYMYR STRUTYNSKY 

13. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs numbered “1” 

through “12” herein with the same force and effect as if the same were set forth at length herein. 

14. Sometime prior to October 25, 2017, an obligation was allegedly incurred by Plaintiff to US 

Alliance Federal Credit Union (“Alliance”). 

15. The aforesaid obligation arose out of a transaction in which money, property, insurance or 

services, which are the subject of the transaction, are primarily for personal, family or 

household purposes. 

16. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3) of the FDCPA. 

17. Defendant collects and attempts to collect debts incurred or alleged to have been incurred for 

personal, family or household purposes on behalf of creditors using the United States Postal 

Services, telephone and internet. 

18. Sometime prior to October 25, 2017, Alliance, directly or through an intermediary, contracted 

Defendant to collect the alleged debt. 

19. Defendant is a "debt collector" as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6) of the FDCPA. 

20. On October 25, 2017 Defendant sent Plaintiff an initial communication (the “Letter”).  See 

Exhibit A. 

21. The Letter is a “communication” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2). 

22. 15 U.S.C. § 1692f prohibits the collection of any amount (including any interest, fee, charge, 

or expense incidental to the principal obligation) unless such amount is expressly authorized 

by the agreement creating the debt or permitted by law. 
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23. Defendant’s Letter purports to charge Plaintiff “Interest” in the amount of $158.90. 

24. Defendant’s Letter purports to charge Plaintiff “Fees” in the amount of $102.93. 

25. Sais Interest and Fees were continuing to accrue on Plaintiff’s account as provided in the 

Agreement with Alliance. 

26. Defendant’s Letter fails to state whether said Interest and Fees were continuing to accrue. 

27. As set forth in the following Counts Defendant violated the FDCPA. 

First Count 

Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692e, et seq. 

False or Misleading Representations as to the Amount of Debt Owed 

28. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs numbered “1” 

through “27” herein with the same force and effect as if the same were set forth at length herein. 

29. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e prohibits a debt collector from using any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. 

30. While § 1692e specifically prohibits certain practices, the list is non-exhaustive, and does not 

preclude a claim of falsity or deception based on any non-enumerated practice. 

31. Collection letters are deceptive if they can be reasonably read to have two or more different 

meanings, one of which is inaccurate. 

32. Defendant’s October 25, 2017 communication states a “Balance Due” of $8795.45. 

33. Said Communication is open to one of multiple interpretations and would likely be 

misunderstood by the least sophisticated consumer. 

34. §1692e requires debt collectors, when informing debtors of their account balance, to disclose 

whether the balance may increase due to interest and fees.  

35. In a recent Second Circuit decision, the Court in Avila v. Riexinger & Associates, LLC held 

that the FDCPA does not only require disclosure of “the amount of the debt.” 2016 U.S. App. 

LEXIS 5327, at *7 (2d Cir. 2016). The Court instead adopted the Seventh Circuit’s “safe harbor 
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approach” formulated in Miller v. Raymer, Padrick, Cobb, Nichols, & Clark, L.L.C., 214 F.3d 

872 (7th Cir. 2000), which was intended to address the concern that including information 

regarding accruing interest and fees in a collection notice could deceitfully coerce consumers 

and invite abuse. While the Court did not require a debt collector to use the “safe harbor 

approach” in order to comply with §1692e, the Court held that a debt collector will not violate 

§ 1692e if either: (1) the collection notice states that the amount of debt will increase over time, 

or (2) clearly states that the debt collector will accept the amount stated in the notice in full 

satisfaction of the debt if payment is made by a specific date.  

36. This type of language is clearly absent from the Collection Letter at issue.  

37. Defendant’s Letter to Plaintiff sets forth “Interest” of $158.90. 

38. Defendant’s Letter to Plaintiff sets forth “Fees” of $102.93. 

39. Furthermore, like in Avila, interest had already begun accruing, yet Plaintiff and the least 

sophisticated consumer were not adequately informed of same 

40. Since interest and fees continues to accrue after the date of the Letter, the least sophisticated 

consumer would not know how to satisfy the debt because the Defendant failed to indicate the 

applicable interest and fee rate. 

41. The Plaintiff and an unsophisticated consumer would be led to believe that the Current 

“Balance Due” would remain as is and that paying the amount due would satisfy the debt 

irrespective of when payment was remitted.  

42. Yet in reality, interest and fees had already begun to accrue, and Defendant has attempted to 

collect same from Plaintiff.  

43. Defendant has violated the FDCPA because the letter fails to disclose whether the balance may 

further increase due to interest and fees. 
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44. Plaintiff suffered injury in fact by being subjected to unfair and abusive practices of the 

Defendant.  

45. Plaintiff suffered actual harm by being the target of the Defendant’s misleading debt collection 

communications.  

46. Defendant violated the Plaintiff’s right not to be the target of misleading debt collection 

communications.  

47. Defendant violated the Plaintiff’s right to a truthful and fair debt collection process.  

48. Defendant used materially false, deceptive, misleading representations and means in its 

attempted collection of Plaintiff’s alleged debt.  

49. Defendant’s communications were designed to cause the debtor to suffer a harmful 

disadvantage in charting a course of action in response to the Defendant’s collection efforts.  

50. The FDCPA ensures that consumers are fully and truthfully apprised of the facts and of their 

rights, the act enables them to understand, make informed decisions about, and participate fully 

and meaningfully in the debt collection process.  

51. These deceptive communications additionally violated the FDCPA since they frustrate the 

consumer’s ability to intelligently choose his or her response.   

52. Plaintiff and putative class members are entitled to preliminary and permanent injunctive relief, 

including, declaratory relief, and damages. 

Second Count 

15 U.S.C. §1692g and §1692e et seq. 

Failure to Adequately and Honestly Convey the Amount of the Debt 

53. Plaintiff repeats, reiterates and incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs numbered “1” 

through “52” herein with the same force and effect as if the same were set forth at length herein.  

54. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g provides that within five days after the initial communication with a   

consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the 
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information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send 

the consumer a written notice containing certain enumerated information.  

55. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1) requires the written notice provide “the amount of the debt.”  

56. The written notice, to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1), must convey the amount of the 

debt clearly and accurately from the perspective of the least sophisticated consumer.  

57. The written notice, to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1), must state whether interest, late 

fees and/or other fees are accruing.  

58. The written notice, to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1), must allow the least sophisticated 

consumer to determine the minimum amount he or she owes at the time of the notice.  

59. The written notice, to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1), must allow the least sophisticated 

consumer to determine what he or she will need to pay to resolve the debt at any given moment 

in the future.  

60. The written notice, to comply with 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1), must contain an explanation, 

understandable by the least sophisticated consumer, of any fees or interest that may cause the 

balance to increase at any time in the future.  

61. The failure to include the foregoing information renders an otherwise accurate statement of the 

“amount of the debt” violative of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1).  

62. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff whether the amount listed will increase.  

63. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff what “Fees” might apply.  

64. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if “Fees” are applied, when such “Fees” will be applied.  

65. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if “Fees” are applied, what the“Fees” will be.  

66. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff of the nature of the “Fees.”  
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67. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” what the amount of the accrued 

interest will be.  

68. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” when such interest will be applied.  

69. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” what the interest rate is.  

70. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” the amount of money the amount 

listed will increase per day.  

71. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” the amount of money the amount 

listed will increase per week.  

72. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” the amount of money the amount 

listed will increase per month.  

73. The Letter failed to inform Plaintiff if there is “interest,” the amount of money the amount 

listed will increase per any measurable period.  

74. The Letter, because of the aforementioned failures, would render the least sophisticated 

consumer unable to determine the amount of his or her debt.  

75. The least sophisticated consumer could reasonably believe that the debt could be satisfied by 

remitting the listed amount as of the date of the letter, at any time after receipt of the letter.  

76. The least sophisticated consumer could reasonably believe that the amount listed was accurate 

only on the date of the Letter.  

77. If interest is continuing to accrue, the least sophisticated consumer would not know the amount 

of the debt because the letter fails to indicate the applicable interest rate.  

78. If interest is continuing to accrue, the least sophisticated consumer would not know the amount 

of the debt because the letter fails to indicate what the amount of the accrued interest will be.  
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79. If interest is continuing to accrue, the least sophisticated consumer would not know the amount 

of the debt because the letter fails to indicate when such interest will be applied.  

80. If interest is continuing to accrue, the least sophisticated consumer would not know the amount 

of the debt because the letter fails to indicate the amount of money the amount listed will 

increase at any measurable period.  

81. If “Fees” are continuing to accrue, the least sophisticated consumer would not know the 

amount of the debt because the letter fails to indicate the nature of the “Fees.”1  

82. The letter failed to advise Plaintiff that if Plaintiff pays the amount listed, an adjustment may 

be necessary after Defendant receives payment.  

83. The letter failed to advise Plaintiff that if Plaintiff pays the amount listed, Defendant will 

inform Plaintiff of the balance difference before depositing payment.  

84. The Defendant’s failures are purposeful.  

85. In order to induce payments from consumers that would not otherwise be made if the consumer 

knew the true amount due, Defendant does not inform the consumer what “Fees” might apply.  

86. In order to induce payments from consumers that would not otherwise be made if the consumer 

knew the true amount due, Defendant does not inform the consumer when such “Fees” will be 

applied.  

                                                 
1 Carlin v. Davidson Fink LLP, 852 F.3d 207 (2d Cir. 2017), Balke v. All. One Receivables Mgmt., No. 16-cv-

5624(ADS)(AKT), 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 94021, at *14 (E.D.N.Y. June 19, 2017) ("[T]he Collection Letter in this 

case refers with vagueness to "accrued interest or other charges," without providing any information regarding the 

rate of interest; the nature of the "other charges"; how any such charges would be calculated; and what portion of the 

balance due, if any, reflects already-accrued interest and other charges. By failing to provide even the most basic 

level of specificity in this regard, the Court "cannot say whether those amounts are properly part of the amount of 

the debt," for purposes of section 1692g.Carlin, 852 F.3d at 216. Further, as set forth in Carlin, without any 

clarifying details, the Collection Letter states only that these unspecified assessments may be added to the balance 

due, which the Court finds to be insufficient to "accurately inform[ ] the [Plaintiff] that the amount of the debt stated 

in the letter will increase over time.") consumer knew the true amount due, Defendant does not inform the consumer 

whether the amount listed will increase. 
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87. Defendant failed to clearly and unambiguously state the amount of the debt, in violation of 15 

U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1).  

88. The Letter would likely make the least sophisticated consumer uncertain as to the amount of 

the debt, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1).  

89. The Letter would likely make the least sophisticated consumer confused as to the amount of 

the debt, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(1).  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants as follows: 

(a) Declaring that this action is properly maintainable as a Class Action and 

certifying Plaintiff as Class representative and Joseph H. Mizrahi Law, 

P.C., as Class Counsel; 

  (b) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class statutory damages; 

  (c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class actual damages; 

  (d) Awarding Plaintiff costs of this Action, including reasonable attorneys’  

fees and expenses;  

(e) Awarding pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest; and 

(f) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such other and further relief as this Court 

may deem just and proper. 

       Respectfully submitted,  

     By:  /s/ Joseph H. Mizrahi_______  

     Joseph H. Mizrahi, Esq. 

     Joseph H. Mizrahi Law, P.C. 

     300 Cadman Plaza West, 12 Floor 

     Brooklyn, New York 11201 

     Phone: (917) 299-6612 

     Fax:     (718) 425-8954 

     Email: Joseph@Jmizrahilaw.com 

     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

 Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff hereby requests a 

trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

      /s/ Joseph H. Mizrahi    

      Joseph H. Mizrahi, Esq. 

 

Dated:     Brooklyn, New York 

    December 13, 2017 
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ASSOCIATED
CREDIT SERVICES. Itic

P.O. MA 617i
Westborough, MA 0/581-5171
ADDRESS SERVICE REQUESTED (800) 962-9898

October 25, 2017 ASSOCIATED CREDIT SERVICES, INC.

P O. Box 5171
Westborough, MA 01581-5171

PERSONAL B. CONFIDENTIAL
VOLODYMYR STRUTYNSKYY
6930 62nd SI Apt 3K
R/d5ewood NY-11385-5213

1111E111111111111111 111 111111111 111 111
Our Account #1 12015230
Balance Me: $6755.45

B1-556258063

—Detau, Upper Porton and Raul...Al PaYmont—
Creditor USALLIANCE FEDERAL CREDIT UNION
Our Account 12015230
Principal Balance: $8533.52
Interest: $158.90
Fees: $102.93
Balance Due: $8795.45
Creditor Account 1915514260
Your account has been listed with our office far collection.

Contact Jason Holiday (800) 962-9898.
Unless you notify this office within 30 days after receiving this notice that you dispute the validity of the debt or any portion thereof,
this office will assume the debt is valid. If you notify this office in writing within 30 days from receiving this notice that you dispute the

validity of the debt or any portion thereof, this office will obtain verification of the debt or obtain a copy of a judgment and mail you a

copy of such judgment or verification. If you request this office in writing Wthin 30 days after receiving this notice, this office MI

provide you with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current creditor.

If a creditor or debt collector receives a money judgment against you in court, state and federal laws may prevent the following
types of income from being taken to pay the debt:
1. Supplemental security income, (SSl); 2. Social security: 3. Public assistance (welfare); 4. Spousal support, maintenanCe
(alimony) or child support; 5. Unemployment benefits; 6. DIsathlty benefits; 7. Workerscompensation benetts: B. Public or private
pensions; 9. Veterans benefits; 10. Federal student loans, federal student grants, and federal work study funds; and 11. Ninety
percent ofyour wages or salary earned in the last sixty days.

Debt collectors, in accordance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C.§ 1692 et seq., are prohibited from engaging in

abusive, deceptive, and unfair debt collection efforts, including but not limited to: (I) the use or threat of violence; (ii) the use of

obscene or profane language; and (iii) repeated phone calls made with the intent to annoy abuse or harass.

New York City Department of Consumer Affairs license number- 0932237.

THIS COMMUNICATION IS FROM A DEBT COLLECTOR. THIS IS AN ArrEMPT TO COLLECT A DEBT AND ANY

INFORMATION OBTAINED WILL BE USED FOR THAT PURPOSE

For your convenience, make your payment on-line at www.pavacs.com

OUR TOLL FREE NUMBER IS (800) 962-9898

POR FAVOR, CONSULTE EN EL REVERSO LA TRADUCC1ON EN ESPAOL

ASSOCIATED CREDIT SERVICES, INC. 115 FlanderS Road, Suite 140, P.O. Box 5171 Westborough, MA 01581-5171

(800) 962-9898
Office Hours: Monday through Thursday 8am to 7pm EST, Friday Barn to 5pm EST

Most Saturdays 8 am to 12 pm EST



ClassAction.org
This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Associated Credit Services Sued Over Alleged Failure to Specify Consumer’s Amount of Debt

https://www.classaction.org/news/associated-credit-services-sued-over-alleged-failure-to-specify-consumers-amount-of-debt

